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Author’s Introduction


‘A SPECIAL ONE?’





IN SHOW business it’s sometimes said that you can spend twenty years becoming an overnight star. The turn of phrase refers to someone who plays the pubs and clubs week in, week out for years; then suddenly one night a television executive happens to be in the audience, spots the talent, and within a few months the performer is a household name.


In many ways, Nick Clegg spent twenty years becoming an overnight star, but his instant stardom was somewhat different. On 15 April 2010, close to ten million people crowded round their televisions to follow the first-ever party leaders’ debate in British politics. It was a phenomenal audience for a political programme, especially among a population that had taken great pride in moaning about its politicians – and with a fair bit of good reason in view of certain ridiculously audacious expenses claims that some MPs had submitted in the previous eighteen months. But with no obvious result being predicted by the opinion polls, and finally a chance to see the leaders debate with each other after years of witnessing it in America and other countries, the British people revelled in their televised political spectacle.


To some, Nick Clegg shouldn’t have been part of it. As the leader of the third party in British politics, there was an argument that he represented a party that could never aspire to government, certainly not on its own, and that he was therefore cashing in on being the leader of the biggest of the non-major parties. That argument was a bit harsh – there was a big gap between the Liberal Democrats and any other party in UK terms, and the legal requirement for the broadcasters to observe ‘due impartiality’ meant they would have had a tough time if they had stuck to Labour and Conservatives alone. So this was Clegg’s party’s big opportunity in modern British politics, and he knew it.


I followed the debate from my living room, watching it with my wife, who is no political animal despite being married to me – she was one of the normally apolitical folk who swelled the audience to that astonishing figure. I didn’t actually think Clegg did that well. He is a good media performer without being an outstanding one, and I felt he came over as well meaning but having difficulty hiding the fact that he was very wet behind the ears. So when I heard the newsreader on the ITN News at Ten say that a first opinion poll had been taken and ‘there is a clear winner’, I assumed it had to be David Cameron. Cameron hadn’t done that well, but he’d looked like a plausible prime minister, while Gordon Brown’s ‘I agree with Nick’ approach had clearly backfired.


I was therefore as much gobsmacked as delighted when the polls showed that Clegg had emerged as the clear winner from the debate. Was he that good? Had I missed something, locked as I was in my own Lib Dem parliamentary campaign to wrest a Tory stronghold away from the Conservatives?


Clegg did many things right that night. His trick of mentioning the questioner by name but addressing the television audience by looking straight into the camera clearly worked, and contrasted with a nervous Cameron and an uncomfortable Brown. But the biggest trump card Clegg had was that not a lot of people knew him. That was hard for those of us in the party to take, because we’d been aware of him since 1999, when he became one of the few MEPs any of us could name. To us, the idea peddled in the media that Clegg was ‘Cameron-lite’, because he looked too like David Cameron for his own good, was preposterous. How could anyone in their right mind mix those two up?


Well, they could, because a lot of people in Britain don’t take that much interest in politics, and if they do, they generally think of it in terms of Labour and Conservative; or certainly did until the current coalition was formed. Much as we Lib Dems didn’t like to admit it, we were in many cases the nicest of the protest votes, a generally cuddly way of expressing dissatisfaction with the two largest parties. As a result, quite a few people could name the leader of the Lib Dems, but not that many, and of those, not everyone would have been able to tell you what he looked like, especially as it was his first general election as leader of the party.


So after twenty years as a political animal and more than ten as an elected representative, Nick Clegg became an overnight star. In retrospect it is remarkable to think that, on the morning of 15 April 2010, he was just a name even to those who had taken an interest in the forthcoming election; and by 12 May he was the Deputy Prime Minister and one of five Liberal Cabinet ministers in the government for the first time in sixty-five years. Even in the best political fiction, people just don’t rise that fast. Nor do they sink as fast as he appeared to in the months after the Conservative–Lib Dem coalition was formed, although I suspect he has not sunk as far as many in the media would have us believe.




 





I did some work with Clegg in the months before he became Lib Dem leader. I had met him in February 2007, when he was the guest speaker at our constituency’s annual dinner, at which I was master of ceremonies. He impressed us greatly that night. In his speech, he described our local MP, Norman Baker, as ‘a cross between Gandhi and a battering ram’, an original formulation that will strike a chord with anyone who knows the sensitive but ebullient Baker, and the comment certainly wowed party members. Sitting next to him over dinner, I found Clegg a great conversation partner, but what struck me most was his total ease with everyone he met. Like any local party, we have a mix of personalities, from the hard-working salt-of-the-earth characters you can’t do without, to those who take a fair bit of space and need a lot of maintenance. It’s the politician’s job to treat them all with respect and ease, but he had something special. It was almost entrancing watching him interact with someone new, male or female, seeing him look into their eyes, tilt his head slightly, and watching them go weak at the knees. Some call it charm, others call it charisma. Whatever you call it, he had it.


The line of argument I put to him in February 2007 was that Ming Campbell wouldn’t last that long as Lib Dem leader, and that when he went, he, Clegg, had to take over. He was quite happy with that scenario; indeed, he had heard it enough from others. But the second half of my argument was that the next leader of the Lib Dems had to really understand the environment. The political noses of Campbell and Charles Kennedy had told them that the environment was important, but I never got the impression it was something they really felt. Faced with the onward march of the Green Party (something all Lib Dems welcome, but few dare say so because the Greens are a threat to them politically), I said that if the next Lib Dem leader didn’t have a fair bit of green blood coursing through his/her veins, the party would remain vulnerable to the Greens.


Out of that began a series of meetings, at which Clegg, I and a handful of other people thrashed out an environmental policy for his forthcoming leadership campaign. This was in the middle of 2007, and none of us realised just how close the leadership campaign was. There were about five meetings; one was on the terrace at the House of Commons, another in a room in the Grand Hotel in Brighton during the party conference, which stands out in my memory for the awful sandwich (bitingly and hilariously described by Clegg) he tried to munch his way through while we chatted. Our last meeting took place – purely coincidentally – on the day Campbell resigned as leader, and while I barely saw Clegg in the three years after that, many of his early environmental pronouncements bore the hallmarks of our discussions. Whether I really got him to feel the environment is another matter, and this point is developed in Chapter 10, which deals with how the party worked out its first manifesto under his leadership.


When news was published that I was writing this book, a few people were quick to dismiss my Lib Dem background as detracting from the biography’s credibility. It would be too much of a PR job to be truly independent, or so the argument ran. That overlooks the fact that I am a journalist first and a Lib Dem in my spare time, and that I have too much professional pride to offer up a sanitised profile of a man with a vital role in British life. In fact my professional pride was something that worried some senior Lib Dem figures, who feared I might look to be hypercritical of Clegg just to assert my journalistic independence. I hope I have been neither unnecessarily harsh nor unnecessarily lenient.


But I also think that to assume I would somehow gloss over Clegg’s bad points because I’m a member of his party rather misses a stark reality of politics in a country of sixty million inhabitants.


For any political party to be viable, it has to be big enough to draw people from a wide spectrum of opinion. To that extent, all three major British parties are broad churches, and I find it journalistically fatuous when I read headlines about ‘splits’ in parties. If there aren’t splits in parties occasionally, then the party is too small or too dormant. One person’s split is another person’s healthy debate, and I much prefer the healthy debate interpretation, whether in my own party or others. So the fact that I’m a Lib Dem councillor and former parliamentary candidate does not mean I feel the need to present a sanitised portrait of my party leader, just a fair one.


Moreover, there is no shortage of Lib Dems who are happy to tell you – in a quiet way that doesn’t lead to headlines about ‘splits’ – that they’re not totally enamoured of Clegg’s leadership. By taking the party into a coalition with the Conservatives, he has fuelled the fires of those who always saw him as being ‘on the right of the party’, whatever that means. More than a year into that coalition, many feel he has not shouted loudly enough about policy successes that happened only because the Lib Dems were in government. And he won a leadership contest by the narrowest of margins against Chris Huhne, a man who, though rich enough to rub shoulders with the best of the bankers, had worked his way to the party’s heart with a superb environment policy that set out a timetable for Britain to become carbon neutral by 2050.


For these and other reasons, I had no difficulty coming at this book with an open mind, expecting to find good things and not-so-good  things, all of which would contribute to an overall profile of a man who still has a lot of his career to come. I have indeed found the full package, but one overriding impression has emerged over the course of several months’ research: I have grown both to like and to admire the man. That realisation in itself didn’t altogether surprise me. What I was slightly unprepared for was the amount of people who used the word ‘special’ in connection with him. The current zeitgeist in Britain is to use the word ‘special’ to describe a person as a bit dangerous; the media has had a lot of fun with the Portuguese football coach José Mourinho since he once said he was ‘the special one’. But several people – and I mean several – who have no specific knowledge of Mourinho have said to me ‘You do know you’re writing a book about a very special person, don’t you?’ It doesn’t mean one has to agree with everything Clegg says or does, but the suggestion is that here is a package of skills and attributes that is unusual, a package that, if used wisely, could have the scope to effect significant change in British society, even after the setbacks he and his party suffered in the May 2011 elections.


Yet this combination of my own findings and the observations of others presents me with my biggest problem: can I really paint a portrait of a man that is generally positive without people dismissing it as the biased analysis of a party member? At time of writing, the problem is particularly acute, given that the political media are delighting in what they see as Clegg’s spectacular fall from the height of ‘Cleggmania’ a little over a year ago. However, as a journalist, I am well aware that the media can get very caught up in today’s headlines and lose sight of the big picture, as the former sells a lot more papers than the latter. And as a sports journalist, I will just have to rely on the commentator’s maxim of ‘calling it as I see it’, and trust the reader to see it as the honest profile I intend it to be. (And to remember that, while I have stood for the Lib Dems, the publisher of this book has stood for the Conservatives.)




 





Whatever one thinks of Nick Clegg, he has achieved remarkable things for himself and the Liberal Democrats. He became leader less than three years after becoming an MP. Two-and-a-half years later he was the Deputy Prime Minister, with four other Lib Dem ministers in the Cabinet and a dozen or so junior ministers further down the ministerial ranks. That is a phenomenal achievement, even if many in his party are still uncomfortable at what they see as supping with the Conservative devil.


But who is Nick Clegg? Where has he come from? What drives him? Or to use a phrase beloved of Lib Dems, what makes him get out of bed in the morning? What lies behind the boyish charm that can sometimes turn to a look of teenage grumpiness? And what makes him sacrifice the easy life that someone of his circumstances could have had, in return for life in the public eye where every syllable is scrutinised for hidden meanings, leading a party with no safe parliamentary seats, dealing with unseen abuse to himself and his family, and having to work hardest of all to ensure he doesn’t miss his kids growing up? All that makes up the content of this book.


People ask me whether it’s ‘authorised’ or not. I don’t like that phrase, as it gives the impression of being somehow controlled or ordered by Clegg or his staff. It is my book, and I take responsibility for it. But I am very grateful to have had the cooperation of both Nick himself and just about everyone in the Lib Dems. I’m especially grateful to Norman Lamb, Lena Pietsch and Jonny Oates, who have been supportive of my project, even though it was clearly an irritant for them when it emerged amid the bedlam of the post-election period. The one restriction they and Nick put on me was in interviewing the Clegg family – they said that was a ‘no go’ area. I fully accepted this in terms of Miriam (Clegg’s wife) and their three sons, Antonio, Alberto and Miguel – anyone would want their children to be protected from the kind of public intrusion Nick and Miriam are trying to shield them from. As such, the details of their private life that appear in this book are only those already in the public domain, or information close associates have been happy to tell me. But I did seek access to the family Clegg grew up in, as family background is an important part of depicting the man. I’m grateful to Clegg and his staff for the compromises they were willing to make so that I could gain an insight into the world in which he grew up.


In addition, Clegg himself gave me quality time, for which I am very grateful, and I was also able to spend time with him on the campaign trail in April 2011. But in this book I quote him from other sources than just the interviews I carried out with him. This is not simply a question of avoiding reinventing the wheel, but also to quote him as he expresses himself to others. As a result, I quote frequently from his appearance on BBC Radio 4’s Desert Island Discs in October 2010, from an in-depth interview he gave Mick Brown for an article in The Telegraph magazine in March 2010, and an interview with the Ekklesia website in 2008, as well as from other articles, accounts and interviews.


And I am eternally grateful to all the people who have given me the benefit of their knowledge of Nick, and other bits of logistical help. I carried out more than fifty interviews for this book. Most of those who helped me are quoted in the text, but inevitably there were some whose help was of a more logistical than quotable nature. They include, in alphabetical order: Matthew Bishop, John Bowers, John Bridges, Joaquín Carvanna, Monica Escolar-Rojo, Richard Evans, Sebastián Fest, Anne Gorst, Sandy Harwitt, Greg Hodder, Gayle Hunnicutt, Harvey Linehan, David Mercer, Mariëtte Pakker, Chris Rennard, Alison Suttie and Steve Wasserman. And I’m also very grateful to Iain Dale of Biteback Publishing, who offered me the authorship of this book rather than taking the possibly safer option of giving it to a Westminster journalist. I agree with Iain on political matters no more these days than I did when we were students of German together in Norwich in the early 1980s, but I’m delighted to be a small part of his immense contribution to the popular understanding of British politics.


Ultimately, this book is not about being critical or uncritical of Nick Clegg, but about painting a picture of him. As such, it should be possible for those who are well disposed towards him to enjoy this book and get something out of it, as much as for those who are not. He is, after all, one of the dominant political figures of our era, so the public is entitled to know what makes him tick, whatever they may think about the man, his background, and his views.




 





Chris Bowers, July 2011




















Chapter 1


‘A LITTLE OF ALL THESE’





WATCHING NICK Clegg up close can be a daunting experience for British people. For a country not used to proficiency in foreign languages, the ease with which he switches tongues is disconcerting. ‘I was staying at his house once,’ recalls a close aide, ‘and he was on the phone to his mother, with his wife hanging on to speak to him. He was rattling on in Dutch, and then when the call ended, he muttered a couple of words in English to me, picked up the other phone, and started rattling away in Spanish with Miriam.’


Such linguistic dexterity is nothing special in multilingual countries. In Switzerland, for example, a country with four official languages alongside the onward march of English, trilingualism is fairly common. But in Britain, even after two generations of immigration that have left many children and young adults bilingual, the ability to speak a foreign language is still held in awe. Choosing a different form of language – what the language analysts would call different ‘registers’ – for different people and different situations is nothing special; people use different words or modify a regional accent when speaking to children, the vicar, a solicitor and so on. So too does Nick Clegg – only in his case it’s a totally different language rather than a different register.


A linguistic genius, then? Linguistically gifted, for sure, and his aptitude was always more towards the humanities subjects than the sciences, but his multilingualism stems as much from his background and upbringing as from any natural genius.


Of Clegg’s four grandparents, only one was British. Two were Dutch, and one was Russian. How much anyone is influenced by their ancestry and family heritage is open to question, and it’s a question that has dogged the offspring of despotic parents and grandparents as much as those from admirable stock. But there’s no doubt there’s a mass of drama, intrigue and entertainment in Nick Clegg’s family heritage, most of it through his two grandmothers. His brother Paul, six-and-a-half years older than Nick and therefore with a more formed memory of that generation, says of their four grandparents, ‘As a child, you pick out people who are defined – people who aren’t defined blur into the background. All my grandparents were very defined characters, they were all interesting.’


The most colourful, even romantic, line of the Clegg family is the Russian one. His paternal grandmother was Baroness Kira von Engelhardt, the daughter of Baron Artur von Engelhardt and Alexandra Ignatievna Zakrevskaya. Baron Engelhardt was a landowner of noble German origin from Smolensk, whilst Alexandra was a Russian noble of Ukrainian descent, whose father was Ignaty Zakrevsky, a senator and one-time attorney general answering to the tsar of Russia. Kira was born in 1909, so was just eight when the Russian Revolution wiped out her family’s property. The Engelhardts fled the Bolsheviks and settled in Estonia, where Kira lived with her cousins on her uncle’s estate. In the 1920s she came to London and, among other things, became a lifelong supporter of the Liberal Party.


‘She was a lovely woman,’ recalls Paul Clegg of Kira. ‘She was really gentle, and she was somebody who bore no grudges yet lived during a time in history when people could have borne an enormous amount of grudges. Her endearing quality to me was that she was endlessly interested and had no backward-looking regrets at all. She was quadrilingual [French, German, Russian and English] and we were all very fond of her.’


The most colourful member of the family was Alexandra’s sister – Nick Clegg’s great-great-aunt – Maria Ignatievna Zakrevskaya. For most of her life, she was known as Moura Budberg, and looked after Clegg’s grandmother (her niece) as a sort of mother substitute when they were all exiled in London. She died in 1974, when Nick was seven. He does recall meeting her on a handful of occasions: ‘She was a pretty imposing figure, utterly terrifying for a small boy,’ he has said in interviews. ‘She would visit us and look at me sternly and say in a thick Russian accent, “Speak up, boy, you mumble, you mumble.” But she was an extraordinary survivor who rebuilt her life in London and became a great figure on the Bohemian, theatre and arts scene in London. She would hold soirées and salons, people would come, and she would drink everybody under the table.’


Paul Clegg, who was thirteen when Budberg died, has a somewhat more robust memory of her. ‘She was quite a character, a strong older woman who people respected, and everyone in our immediate family who really knew her, mainly my parents’ generation, talks about her as a key central figure, as any matriarch would be. I remember her as a really good person, and very much loved by all her family.’


Budberg was born in St Petersburg in 1892, the daughter of a wealthy imperial official. An obituary of her daughter Tania published in The Times in 2004 describes Budberg as ‘a spoilt but exceptionally attractive and spirited girl of 18’ when she married her first husband, Count Johann von Benckendorff, a tsarist diplomat. They had two children but, in the aftermath of the Russian Revolution, he was shot dead by a peasant on their estate in Estonia, which at the time was in the process of gaining independence from Russia. Kira was with her nanny, Mrs Wilson, when they found him dead on a path near the house. Many years later she and her husband Hugh Clegg went back, visited the house and located the spot where the count had died.


Nick Clegg also visited both St Petersburg and Estonia. When he was working at the European Commission on Russian and central Asian development issues in the mid-1990s, his itinerary took him to St Petersburg, and he snuck in a taxi ride past the house the Engelhardts had had there. ‘I only saw the house out of the window of the taxi, but I was bowled over by the romance of St Petersburg,’ he says. ‘I remember being gobsmacked by the absolute beauty of the place – it was the middle of winter, you had great shards of ice coming up the river, the statue of the horseman, it was beautiful. I met a young man, he could well have been an interpreter, who took me to a library, and he became wildly excited to show me books about the Budberg family and Zakrevsky – he knew all about them.’


A more moving experience came on a separate trip, when he visited the house in Kalli Järv, Estonia, where Kira and Moura spent some time and where the Count was shot dead. ‘There’s a path from the big house, which is now an agricultural college, to the smaller wooden house on the banks of the lake where they lived, and there is a small wooden engraved statue where he was shot. I was in a suit, with snow up to my knees! I don’t know why it hit me emotionally – it was the middle of winter and the middle of nowhere, it was where he was shot, and I’d heard all these stories about a house on a lake, and it was exactly as I’d imagined it.’


Caught up in the post-revolution chaos, Moura Budberg had an affair with Robert Bruce Lockhart, a British diplomat posted to Russia during the Russian Revolution and in reality a leading British spy. Lockhart, who legend says was the man on whom Ian Fleming based the character of James Bond, was suspected of being involved in a plot to assassinate Lenin in August 1918, may in fact have been the man behind it. Lenin was shot three times but survived the attack. Legend also has it that Budberg and Lockhart were lying in bed in his Moscow flat shortly after the attack when revolutionary soldiers burst in and arrested them both. They were imprisoned, but she was soon released and he got out a little later; much speculation surrounds what favours Budberg offered the prison commandant as part of both her own and Lockhart’s release. Budberg was deeply in love with Lockhart, and felt utterly deserted when he eventually left her.


Budberg took a lot of secrets about this time to her grave, so no-one can be quite sure what really happened. As a result, and because she was a sexually liberated woman, her past gives rise to many tales and intermittent lurid headlines about Nick Clegg’s ‘Mata Hari aunt’. But the family is keen to make sure the good side of Budberg is also known, as she proved to be a haven of support for her friends and family over many years.


After the liaison with Lockhart, Budberg fell in love with the Russian revolutionary writer and literary giant Maxim Gorky, which helped her survive the early years of the new Soviet state. He introduced her to Lenin and Stalin, and she apparently gave Stalin the gift of an accordion. Around this time she married another member of the Baltic aristocracy, Baron Nikolai Budberg Böningshausen, but it was a marriage of convenience for her to get Estonian citizenship. Once she had it, she ditched him, but kept the title and was known for the rest of her life as Baroness Moura Budberg.


Budberg’s relationship with Gorky lasted for several years, during which time he introduced her to the British science fiction writer H. G. Wells. In the early 1930s, Budberg settled in London, and began an affair with Wells, despite being thirty years his junior; she is said to have told Somerset Maugham that Wells ‘smells of honey’. Her home was in Ennismore Gardens, close to one of London’s two Russian Orthodox churches (although as the church in Ennismore Gardens recognised the authority of the patriarch in Moscow, it was treated with suspicion by Russian émigrés, especially during the Cold War years). Her move to Britain began a period of four decades at the core of London’s international social set, in which she displayed a phenomenal ability to drink large amounts of vodka without losing her quickness of thought. Yet she could never shake off suspicions that she was a spy; in fact she may not have wanted to, such suspicions giving her a cachet in London circles that no doubt enhanced her allure. She was probably a double agent, and may even have spied on or for Germany in the First World War: the British authorities considered her ‘a very dangerous woman’ in the aftermath of the revolution, but they almost certainly used her knowledge of Russia during her time in London.


How much credence they gave her evidence is another matter, highlighted by an incident in 1951 that came to light when MI5 released her file in 2002. Not long after Guy Burgess, a friend of hers, had defected to Moscow as a communist spy, she told a former MI6 officer that Anthony Blunt, who was the surveyor of the Queen’s pictures, was a member of the Communist Party. The officer was aghast, but passed the information on. MI5 considered adding the information to Blunt’s file, but decided Budberg was too unreliable and rejected her intelligence. The decision was probably justified, since Budberg’s adherence to truth wasn’t always rock solid, but on this occasion she had the last laugh – or would have done if she’d lived long enough – as Blunt was exposed in 1979 as ‘the fourth man’ in the Burgess–McLean–Philby spy scandal that had rocked the British establishment in the 1950s.


There was a tiny frisson during Clegg’s appearance on the BBC Radio 4 programme Desert Island Discs in October 2010 when the presenter, Kirsty Young, put it to him that, in his role as Deputy Prime Minister, he was now in a position to get to the bottom of the rumours that Budberg had been a double agent. Clegg laughed genially, and then stopped, realising that Young was probably right. He quickly added, ‘Do you know, I prefer to keep it as a complete mystery.’ That answer also reflects the family’s wish for Budberg’s good sides to be remembered and for her to not just be made into a figure of fun or betrayal.


Budberg also developed her own technique for avoiding difficult questions in one particular television interview. She was asked a question she didn’t want to answer, so stared at the interviewer as if he hadn’t asked it and she was simply waiting for his next question. He asked his question again, and again she stared at him as if he hadn’t spoken. She was clearly keeping her dignity better than he was, and, getting somewhat flustered, the interviewer asked a different question, which she gracefully answered.


Budberg’s daughter Tania was also part of the Russian aristocracy in exile, living in south-east England for many years until her death in 2004. One of her publications was a memoir of her early life called A Little of All These, a title taken from a statement by the philosopher and travel writer Hermann Keyserling: ‘I am not a Dane, not a German, not a Swede, not a Russian nor an Estonian, so what am I? – a little of all these.’ It’s a title that could equally apply to Nick Clegg.


Kira, Budberg’s niece, married Hugh Clegg in the summer of 1932. He was at the time a sub-editor on the British Medical Journal, and went on to become one of the leading figures in the British medical establishment in the twentieth century. (He is not to be confused with another Hugh Clegg, a respected professor of industrial relations, who was also prominent at the same time.)


Hugh Anthony Clegg was born in St Ives, Huntingdonshire, in 1900, to John Clegg and Gertrude Wilson. John Clegg was a clergyman and school teacher from the East Riding of Yorkshire, who had migrated to Lowestoft. The Yorkshire connection is useful for Nick Clegg, who, although he could never claim to be a Yorkshireman, makes the occasional mention of his Yorkshire roots when in Sheffield visiting the affluent constituency of Hallam, which he represents in Parliament.


Hugh was the third of seven children, and the man who raised his branch of the Clegg family from the modest surroundings of a Suffolk parsonage to a source of leading figures in British society – both through professional aggrandisement and in marrying an aristocrat, albeit an émigré one. He gained a scholarship to Westminster School and an exhibition to Trinity College, Cambridge, where he went on to become a senior scholar in natural sciences. He missed service in the First World War by a few months – he was entered as an ensign in the Irish Guards, but the war finished too early for him to see active service.


He worked his way up the medical ranks, becoming an eminent doctor, and was contemplating a career as a general physician specialising in chests when he joined the staff of the British Medical Journal as a sub-editor. Although he continued to practise, and did a lot of valuable work in London treating patients during the Second World War, his career was established on the ladder that would see him become one of the most significant mouthpieces of the British medical community. He was the editor of the BMJ from 1947 to his retirement at the end of 1965, but was effectively in charge for nearly thirty years; he became deputy editor in 1934 and, from the late 1930s, frequently had to stand in for his ailing boss, N. G. Horner.


With the foundation of the National Health Service in 1948, it was a momentous time to be the editor of a world-respected medical journal, and Hugh’s editorials were widely read. As such, any history of British medicine in the twentieth century must feature some mention of Hugh Clegg, but he had a rough character trait that, if not his undoing, perhaps prevented him from going as far as he might have done. Those who knew him said he was often tactless, if not downright rude, and his attacks on medics he disagreed with often became unnecessarily personal. A good friend from the medical world, Bradford Hill, said Hugh always regretted not making a career in clinical medicine, a step he felt unable to take because of a lack of finance resulting from his relatively poor background as one of a country parson’s seven children. Hill also believed the personal nature of Hugh Clegg’s attacks was largely responsible for him getting ‘only’ a CBE when he retired, as opposed to the knighthood given to his opposite number at the Lancet, Theodore Fox. Fox, Hill maintained, was better able to separate the subject matter from the personal when he disagreed with someone. In its obituary of Hugh Clegg in 1983, the BMJ pointedly said, ‘He was not one to let current events pass without coming to his own conclusions about them.’


But if that is a veiled reference to his forthright views, there’s no doubt that those in the medical profession couldn’t afford to avoid Hugh Clegg’s publication. He had taken the BMJ from a somewhat boring voice of the British Medical Association – more preoccupied with the BMA’s annual general meeting than with advances in medical research – to a highly respected journal, publishing a raft of statistics-based papers which were unfashionable at the time. He widened its accessibility by introducing summaries or abstracts at the start of all the leading articles, so people didn’t need to read everything, and when contributors asked him how long their article should be, he was known to reply, ‘As long as it has interest; stop when it has not.’ As a result, the magazine’s appeal widened to take in most British doctors and a readership well beyond the BMA.


Nick Clegg invoked his grandfather in a speech in early 2010 in which he railed against Britain’s libel laws. With the BMJ having recently declined to publish an article on child abuse for fear of it being defamatory, and a journalist, Simon Singh, being sued for libel after questioning the efficacy of chiropractic methods, the Liberal Democrat leader quoted Dr Hugh Clegg’s belief that ‘scientific debate is at its most robust, most fruitful, when it is conducted in public’.


Hugh and Kira made their home in the Buckinghamshire village of Little Kingshill, and had two children: Nicholas (Nick’s dad) and Jane. They eventually moved back to London, and were living in the capital when Nick and his brothers and sister were growing up in Buckinghamshire in the 1970s.




 





Slightly less colourful but arguably more dramatic is the maternal, Dutch side of Clegg’s family.


His Dutch grandfather was Herman Willem Alexander van den Wall Bake, known as ‘Hemmy’. A tall man, he studied at the Technical University in Delft, during which time he fell in love with a fellow student, Louise Hillegonde van Dorp, who he had met on a student boat trip (the Dutch van means ‘of’ but doesn’t denote the same degree of upper-crust breeding as the German von). She was studying English, but was also a very gifted musician, playing the piano to a high standard and doing very well at the violin. After graduating, Hemmy went to the Dutch East Indies, now Indonesia, to work for the Batavian Oil Company and later Shell. Much later, he became president of the Dutch banking giant ABN, and was reported to be a friend of the Dutch royal family.


Hemmy and Louise married in early 1932, and she followed him to the Dutch East Indies. For the first ten years of their marriage they were very happy, and had three children, all girls. The middle daughter, Eulalie Hermance, is Nick Clegg’s mother, born in November 1936 in Palembang.


The family was living on the island of Java when war broke out in early 1942. The Japanese, who were fighting on the side of the ‘Axis’ powers led by Germany and Italy, attacked the Dutch East Indies, hoping to capture the country’s rubber and oil supplies to aid the Axis war effort. With the independence movement gaining strength in its campaign to rid the area of its Dutch colonial masters, it was the start of a turbulent time in the history of the territory that was to become Indonesia.


When war broke out, Hermance was five. She remembers the air raid sirens beginning, which meant the family had to go into a bunker that heavy rain had turned into a huge puddle of mud. Louise used to give her girls a piece of rubber to put between their teeth, a saucepan for their heads, and cotton wool for their ears. After Japan had attacked Pearl Harbor in December 1941, Hemmy was made a first reserve lieutenant in the Dutch cavalry, and was moved to a garrison in West Java called Batujajar. To be close to him, Louise and the three girls moved to a friend’s house nearby. But he was soon called up for action, and when the friend’s house was commandeered by the independence leader Sukarno, later Indonesian president, they were sent to a Japanese internment camp, Kramat. During the takeover of the house, Louise was kicked so hard by a Japanese soldier that she developed a tropical ulcer on her shin which never healed during the years of the war.


At first Kramat was an open camp, which meant Louise and her three girls were fairly free to come and go and life was just about bearable. But things got gradually worse, and fights frequently erupted over the dwindling supplies of food. Then on 23 August 1943, 2,500 women and children were forced to leave Kramat for Tjideng. Tjideng was another internment camp, just for women and children, set up by the Japanese in Batavia (now Jakarta). Over the two-and-a-half years Nick Clegg’s mother, aunts and grandmother were interned there, Tjideng developed a reputation for being one of the worst places in Asia. A survivors’ website describes it as ‘Hell on Earth’. Louise later told Hermance, ‘If we had been there one more month, you wouldn’t be here.’

















Chapter 2


‘ALL ARE GUILTY OF


SOME ATROCITY’





WHEN NICK Clegg talks about why he is ‘a liberal to his fingertips’, the influence of his mother, Hermance van den Wall Bake, is never far from his reasons. He talks about ‘her no-nonsense Dutch egalitarianism’, and in an interview with The Telegraph magazine he said, ‘My mum also retains a slight bemusement at the idiosyncrasies of the British class system, and I think that’s rubbed off on me too.’ But it is what Hermance, and his grandmother Louise, went through during the war – and the approach the family took to looking back on it – that has the biggest influence over his outlook on life.


Astonishingly, or perhaps not, Hermance hardly ever spoke about her war-time experiences with her four children. She finds it difficult talking about the war and says she doesn’t want to ‘pass on the fear’. Inevitably the subject would crop up from time to time, and she would occasionally mention her time in the ‘camp’, but the word meant so little to her children when they were young that they would sometimes say ‘Mum, when you were in those tents...’! As a result, stories of her war experiences seldom featured in discussions at home. ‘It would never have occurred to us to have asked her about it,’ says her eldest son, Paul.


Nick himself said on Desert Island Discs in 2010, ‘I’ve realised now, aged forty-three, how much she didn’t tell us – she sheltered us from a lot of those harrowing, harrowing memories. I think it strengthened my mum’s resolve to try and create the most happy, protected childhood for myself, my two brothers and my sister, and I think she succeeded, I mean we had an extraordinarily happy childhood. If you’re a young girl and you see people being beaten to a pulp in front of you, and being dragged off and shot, I can only imagine what that must be like for a child of the age of my oldest boy.’


In 2010, Hermance finally broke her silence, agreeing to give an interview about how she survived Tjideng to a Dutch magazine, De Aanspraak, a publication specifically for Dutch survivors of the Holocaust and the war in the East Indies. Paul Clegg says the four-page article that resulted from the interview contained more than twice as much as she had ever told her children about what she went through in the war. Of Tjideng she said, ‘There were seventeen of us in one house. My mother and sisters and I all had to sleep in one bed, with nine people to a room. We were constantly plagued by bedbugs, impossible to get rid of. Every day our ball rolled into the open sewer at the side of the road. My mother kept repeating that we had to wash our hands. It’s a wonder we managed to get out of it alive. At first there were 2,500 people in Tjideng, but we had to keep making room for a steady stream of new prisoners. By the end of the war there were 14,350 women and children in the camp. Although there was a lot of petty theft, there was also a feeling of solidarity. If one of the mothers got ill, someone would step in and take care of the children.


‘There were lots of times when the women panicked and some of them started to beat their children. The camp commandant, Sonei, was a cruel lunatic who made us stand on parade for hours on end, day and night, so we could be counted. We had to make a very deep bow, in the direction of Japan, with our little fingers on the side seams of our skirt. If we didn’t do it properly, we were beaten. The Japanese would lose count and were forever having to start again, but my mother always stayed very calm.’


Like other camps, Tjideng was initially under civilian administration, with a certain amount of freedom. It was when the military took over – in Tjideng’s case under the command of the despotic Lieutenant (later Captain) Kenichi Sonei – that things became desperate. Accounts from survivors talk not only of a massive growth in the camp’s population, but at the same time a gradual reduction in the amount of land on which the camp stood, which made the overcrowding much worse. Savage beatings and kicking were commonplace for the slightest misdemeanour; heads were shaved; doors and windows were burned for firewood, leaving no protection from the elements; and all boys over twelve – later reduced to ten – were sent to the men’s camps. All caged inside a fence of matted bamboo called gedèk.


‘Our worst fear was that we would lose each other,’ said Hermance in her Aanspraak interview, ‘so my sister and I were very worried about my mother’s tropical ulcers. She was covered with them because of a vitamin C deficiency. For her sake, we would go out early in the mornings and gather cherries that had fallen from the trees in the night. When the war ended she only weighed 36 kilos. Later, she would often say to me “If it had lasted one more month, you wouldn’t be here”. I was listless by that time and unable to eat anything at all.’


Perhaps more remarkable than the suffering was the attitude towards it. Hermance said her mother was keen not to get involved with any confrontation, often offering food to squabbling mothers to end a conflict, even if it meant she and her daughters became even hungrier. During the long days in the camp, Louise would say to her girls, ‘You have to learn to read and write – if you go to school in Holland in the future, you’ll want to be in the right age group.’ She read Alice in Wonderland in English with her eldest daughter, she made Hermance a dictionary for her birthday, and when she found her maths knowledge insufficient to teach the numerical skills she thought were necessary, she bought some lessons by bartering with baked sago starch, even if that meant less food for her and the girls.


Hermance says of her mother, ‘She was an exceptionally strong person with an enormously positive character. She never wanted to dwell on people’s weaknesses. She preferred to ignore the bad side, which is what she did in the camp.’ She recalls similar positivity from her father. ‘He taught me not to harbour prejudice against any race whatsoever, because all are guilty of having committed some atrocity in the past. He did not want to pass anti-German or anti-Japanese feelings on to his children, and neither did I, as nothing would be gained by it.’


Both Nick Clegg and his elder brother Paul say that their mother has come through her war-time experiences without bitterness and recriminations. ‘If you can do that after all she had been through,’ says Paul, ‘you have to have a very strong character.’


Just before giving the Aanspraak interview, Hermance spoke with her youngest son Alexander, Nick’s younger brother, with whom she had visited Tjideng on a pilgrimage two years earlier. She told him, ‘They want to know how my time in the camp affected your upbringing.’ Alexander replied, ‘We learned never to make a fuss about food.’


The end of the nightmare began on 6 August 1945, when the USA dropped the first atomic bomb on Hiroshima. Hermance’s father was the first Dutch man back in the camp, telling the guards at the camp entrance, ‘Either you open the gate or I’ll drive straight through it!’ He didn’t recognise Hermance at first, as he had been away for more than three years and his five-year-old was now eight.


Attempts to live in a house owned by the Batavian Oil Company came to nothing, as the end of the war was the trigger for Indonesian freedom fighters to start attacking the Dutch. So the five of them were put in another camp, this one for families, and the girls sent to a temporary school. One day, Hermance and her elder sister witnessed a murder in the square in front of the school, watching the victim collapse in a pool of blood. As the situation became more tense, Hemmy took to sitting in front of his house brandishing an axe, just to send the signal that he was defending his family.


During a train journey from Batavia to Bandung, Dutch citizens were attacked by freedom fighters when the train went into a tunnel. Shots were fired, and women and children began screaming. People crammed into one end of the train, making it very difficult to breathe. Louise calmly told her daughters, ‘Stay very still and you won’t need so much air.’ They survived the ordeal, but knew then that they had to get out of the country.


They left on one of the first flights to the Netherlands via Cairo. While in Cairo, the Red Cross provided them with their first real food for several years. By the time they arrived back home, Hermance and Louise were in a terrible state, and spent about nine months convalescing. For several years, Hermance suffered from anaemia and inexplicable fevers, and despite her mother’s best efforts to keep her daughters at the same level as their contemporaries, there were times when Hermance just couldn’t keep up with children her own age.


As Louise recovered her strength, there was another addition to the family – she gave birth to a fourth girl in the early 1950s. Hermance meanwhile gradually caught up with her education, going on to train as a special needs teacher. At the age of nineteen, she wanted to brush up her English, so she went to Cambridge to do a language course, and while there fell in love at first sight with an Englishman called Nick Clegg.


The idea that no anti-German or anti-Japanese feeling should result from the appalling treatment Hermance had suffered at the hands of the occupying Japanese forces found expression in her marriage and her children. While all her children proved proficient in German (it was Clegg’s best learned language, certainly until he met his wife Miriam and became fluent in Spanish), her husband spent many years working with Japan, and was eventually awarded a CBE for services to Anglo-Japanese relations.


Nicholas Peter Clegg, Nick Clegg’s father, was born in London in May 1936, six months before the woman he was to marry. In 1940 he was sent with his mother (Kira) and his sister Jane on one of the last refugee boat convoys to America, spending time in New York, Long Island and Connecticut, before being allowed to fly back to Britain as early as 1942. He went to school in the West Country, first at a prep school in Port Regis and then at Bryanston.


Nick Clegg Sr did his national service in the intelligence division of the Royal Navy, during which time he learned Russian, and he was stationed in Germany and Cyprus. He then went to study international law and economics at Trinity College, Cambridge, where he met his bride-to-be. After graduating from Cambridge, he married Hermance, and worked for a while in London. Shortly after their first child was born, he took a job in the Netherlands with the Dutch steel works. Two years later he got a job with Procter and Gamble in Belgium, so the family, by then with two children, moved again. A further two years passed, before they moved back to England, setting up home in the Buckinghamshire village of Fulmer, where their third and fourth children were born.


From then, Clegg Sr pursued a career in banking. He was a director of the merchant bankers Hill Samuel (who were eventually taken over by Lloyds TSB), and later joined Japan’s second-largest securities firm, Daiwa Securities, first as managing director of their London operation, Daiwa Europe Ltd, then becoming co-chairman of the securities operation as well as chairman of their new bank, Daiwa Europe Bank. It was the start of a long relationship with Japan that continued until after his retirement. He helped conceive and establish the Daiwa Anglo-Japanese Foundation, a UK charity funded entirely by Daiwa to promote better understanding between the people of Japan and Britain by educational ‘cross-fertilisation’ initiatives, whereby Japanese students going to Britain would be given financial help, as would British students going to Japan. It is now arguably the leading organisation in its field, and it was doing this role, over more than twenty years, that earned him a CBE in 2009.


He also had various other roles in the banking world. He was a director of the International Primary Markets Association, he sat on the supervisory board of the Dutch bank Insinger de Beaufort, he was a senior adviser to the Bank of England on banking supervision, he joined the board of a Hungarian bank, and was an adviser to a bank in Brazil. On retirement, he became non-executive chairman of the United Trust Bank, a relatively small bank which describes itself as one of Britain’s leading suppliers of funding for UK-based property developers. He remains in that role today.


With the performance of the banks a major issue in the two years leading up to the general election of 2010, the media enjoyed speculating on whether the Liberal Democrat leader’s paternity was likely to make him tackle the banks with the same vigour that went into his speeches on banking. On a couple of occasions, he invoked the name of his father as an example of ‘good old-fashioned banking principles’, and said his dad was furious at the behaviour of today’s banking community. It’s hard to know whether Clegg is likely to be more understanding of the banks because of his father’s background, or more contemptuous about the absence of noblesse oblige in the way modern banks have behaved. Ultimately, it probably doesn’t matter, as the pragmatics of getting big money to stay in Britain (and thus to pay significant amounts of tax) are always likely to win out over the kind of pre-election statements that will appeal to voters, or even the best of intentions.


Certainly, some of Clegg’s political foes have made a little mischief over his dad’s banking background. Speaking to Channel 4 in the run-up to the 2010 election, the Conservatives’ then business spokesman, Kenneth Clarke, said Clegg should have followed his father’s ‘political wisdom’. Clarke worked with Clegg Sr for a year at Daiwa Securities, and describes him as ‘a very nice, very wise man’. The dig at Clegg Jr was that his dad was a Conservative, but even in that, Clarke didn’t seem entirely sure. ‘He was a very successful City man,’ Clarke told Channel 4, ‘but he wasn’t a flash City man in any way. He was a Tory, I think, quite definitely.’ How definite Clarke can be is a little uncertain. He clearly assumed the banker was a Conservative, but the Clegg children never knew how their parents voted. ‘We knew it wasn’t Labour,’ says Paul, ‘but we never knew if it was Conservative, Liberal or anything else.’ And Nick says his folks were ‘small-L liberals’, though that also says nothing about which way they voted. The only certainty was that Kira was a long-time supporter of the Liberal Party.




 





Like their respective parents, Nick Clegg Sr and Hermance van den Wall Bake (she uses the name ‘Clegg’ in Britain but largely goes by her maiden name in the Netherlands) are clearly ‘defined’ people. David Brown, who became housemaster to Clegg at Westminster School, recalls being invited back to the Clegg house as part of getting to know the parents of the boys he was in charge of. ‘What I remember most about the Cleggs’, he says, ‘was the very nice mum – very bright, broad minded, intelligent, supportive, so that is probably one of the many reasons why we didn’t have any trouble with him. Nothing against the father, who was also very nice – in fact I have kept a letter Nick’s father sent me – but the mother stands out more. Nick came from a very strong home life.’


While Clegg Sr pursued his banking career, Hermance mixed raising a family with her career as a special needs teacher. She taught dyslexic children, starting in Montessori schools. Having witnessed her mother’s fear that the window for learning can sometimes be quite small, she was keen to find the right approach to releasing what she has always felt is the huge amount of potential that lies in all young people. ‘She believes passionately in children,’ says Paul, ‘and if you look at Dutch society, it’s very family oriented, not just now but going back hundreds of years. She exemplifies that in many ways. She’s a very natural teacher.’


Shortly after Nick Clegg Sr retired at the age of sixty-two, he and Hermance bought a badly run-down French farmhouse, the idea being to renovate it as a labour of love. Set amid rural farmland in Charente-Maritime, south of the Cognac region, it is a rambling building with a fair bit of space both within the house and also in the form of outlying sheds and barns. ‘We really wondered if they would have enough energy to do it,’ says Paul Clegg.


They did have enough energy, plus enough money to buy in specialist help when needed. The house is now in much better shape, and acts as a venue for occasional gatherings of the Clegg clan. It also acts as a stick with which the less Lib Dem-friendly sections of the British press can beat Nick Clegg – in an article published two weeks before the 2010 general election, the Daily Mail described the French farmhouse as ‘a chateau’. Few, it must be said, are lucky enough to own a second home, and the house does have enough space to put down a fair few camp beds, but some elegant Louis XIV chateau in the Loire it is most assuredly not.


The Cleggs have access to another house, a chalet in Switzerland that came through the Dutch side of the family. Clegg’s grandfather, Hemmy, built it in 1962, and it provided the venue for a number of family holidays. When Hemmy and Louise died, it passed to Hermance and her three sisters and remains their joint property. Again, it didn’t stop the Mail saying Clegg comes from a family with ‘a chateau and a chalet’ – at least the alliteration is attractive, even if factually it’s stretching a point.






















Chapter 3


‘NICKJE’





NICK CLEGG’s description of his nearest and dearest as ‘a bit of a mongrel family’ is not just a reflection of his Russian, Dutch and Spanish relations. It also applies to himself, his brothers and his sister, who were each born in a different place across a period of ten years in which the family lived in three countries.


His elder brother Paul was born in May 1960 in London, just before their parents moved to the Netherlands. His sister, Elisabeth, who is known in the family as Ibe (pronounced ‘ibby’) from Paul’s early inability to say ‘Elisabeth’, was born in the Netherlands, but spent the first couple of years of her life in Belgium. The family moved back to the UK in 1964, and Nick was born in a maternity home in Chalfont St Giles on 7 January 1967. The fourth child, Alexander (who Nick sometimes calls ‘Ax-an’), was born in 1970 at the family home. All have given names from the family’s history.


Nicholas Peter William Clegg was named Nicholas and Peter after his dad, and William as an anglicised version of his Dutch grandfather’s Willem. At home he was never Nicholas. Because Paul and Ibe spent their early years in the Netherlands and Belgium, their first language was Dutch, and they adopted the Dutch habit of forming a diminutive by adding the syllable je (pronounced like a sudden ‘yer’) to the end of words and names. So their younger brother became ‘Nickje’, and is still largely known as that in the family today, albeit most family members refer to him as ‘Nick’ when talking to people outside the family. There were various short-term nicknames, but nothing stuck. All four children were nicknamed ‘Clog’ by various people outside the family, but that is hardly original; indeed, many of Clegg’s nephews and nieces get called Clog at school a generation later.


All four children enjoy a sinister dexterity when it comes to languages. Paul, a father of four who works for an environmental technology firm specialising in wood products and sits on the board of a Hampshire-based biotech company, has four languages (English, Dutch, German and French). Elisabeth, who Nick describes as the funniest person he has ever met because of her razor-sharp humour and ability to see the funny side of situations, mixes being the mother of two children with working part-time in a small design company in Berkshire; she speaks the same four languages as Paul. Nick has added Spanish since his marriage to Miriam González Durántez, so he has five. But the award for linguist of the family goes to the youngest of the quartet, Alexander – he is based in Saigon working in advertising as part of the WPP Ogilvy & Mather consultancy, and speaks English, Dutch, German, French, Mandarin and Vietnamese, and even has a few words of Korean left over from a stint in Seoul. (He once protested that his Mandarin wasn’t very good – a relative comment given how many British people speak the language.)


There was no default language at home. With both parents fluent in English and Dutch, the language changed constantly. Paul didn’t speak much English until he was five, while Nick and Alexander spoke English from the start. ‘It was very fluid, and still is,’ says Paul, ‘but the Dutch we spoke was very much around the kitchen table at meal times, and that kind of language probably doesn’t really develop until you take it outside. I think Nick in his teens spoke worse Dutch than I did, but now speaks better because he used it in Bruges and Brussels. At a family level when he was growing up, it was more English with flitting in and out of Dutch, but we all understood Dutch. Nick would speak 60 per cent English and 40 per cent Dutch. We all grew up in a multilingual environment, and it was always encouraged.’


These days Clegg still uses Dutch with his mother, and often with his brothers and sisters, especially when phoning them in public situations where he doesn’t want his conversation to be overheard. More importantly, he has massively impressed the Dutch political classes with his command of their language, and allowed a Dutch television team to follow him during the 2010 general election campaign.




 





Nick Clegg clearly had a happy and largely unremarkable childhood. There were, of course, deaths of grandparents, and one house move in the early 1980s: from Fulmer to a delightful house on the Oxfordshire–Buckinghamshire border a little further out of London (so picturesque that one Lib Dem friend refers to the family at this time as the ‘Swiss Family Clegg’). But there were no massively pivotal moments, no upheavals that shaped the development of the future Deputy Prime Minister.


To some, this lack of drama is a sign of blandness, but that would be a harsh judgement. True, history is littered with figures who dragged themselves up by their bootstraps from extreme poverty and suffering to become national and world leaders – whether admirable icons like Gandhi and Mandela, or despotic dictators like Stalin and Hitler. But there are an equal number of world figures who are presented with the knowledge of what poverty and tyranny can do but who never experience it themselves, and who therefore become equally – or more – effective leaders, perhaps because they don’t have the chips on their shoulders that those with the personal scars carry. All the drama in Clegg’s life happened one and two generations back, and it is the way he has absorbed it, rather than any powerful personal experiences of his own, that has shaped the political figure he is today.


Part of the exposure to the family’s horrors came in discussions around the kitchen table. ‘I grew up in a household where ideas, if not party politics, were discussed,’ Clegg told The Telegraph magazine, and his brother Paul recalls it similarly. ‘We discussed world affairs, but discussions around the news rather than politically skewed stuff. I have no recollection of any polarisation over a political discourse. Many of our discussions were defined by the events of the 1970s, in particular the miners’ strike, the three-day week and inflation going well over 20 per cent. I remember having candles for light, and at one stage we had baths full of water to store it when there were shortages.’


It was clearly an affluent household, but not ostentatiously so. Even at the worst of the 1970s recession when British inflation went above 25 per cent, there was never any doubt that the four children would continue to go to independent schools, but the family did not feel that their wealth shielded them completely from the impact of what was a very low period in British economic fortunes.


Paul makes another point that characterises the family’s underlying philosophy. ‘The politics of ideological extremes never featured. I don’t remember any member of my family ever coming up with an extreme view, and it was a big family and we’d meet regularly. We had people from histories that were blighted by extreme ideological politics, catastrophically so. Everybody in Holland remembers the war very clearly, or did in the 1970s as it had only been a couple of generations before. And when I look with the benefit of hindsight, it was always felt that it was terribly important to be objective and free-thinking. My mother drummed into us the concept of standing up for the rights of an individual, and the responsibility of an individual to their surroundings – we were strongly reminded about our responsibilities if there was a cousin or friend in need. She had a very strong sense of right and wrong, and therefore I think we’re all a bit too stubborn or headstrong. We’ve been encouraged to speak openly and bluntly, so we all have strong opinions. But she was very keen to make sure that things were done in the right way, and Nick has inherited that.’ (Both Paul and Alexander have made financial contributions to Clegg’s election campaigns, notably his first one in the East Midlands European region.)


Nick Clegg also talks about his mother’s Dutch attributes as a driving force behind the morality and mentality of his childhood household. ‘The irritating side of the Dutch’, he told The Telegraph magazine, ‘is that they can be slightly finger-pointing and moralising. The really good side is that there’s a very strong Low Church Calvinist tradition of fairness and that people have to hang together.’


His mother herself says such ethics and internationalism were very much part of how she and Nick Sr tried to bring up their children. ‘We are proud of all our children, and that includes Nick,’ she said in her interview with De Anspraak. ‘We did our best to give them an international upbringing and encouraged them to go on exchanges to other countries as part of their studies. We wanted them to see that there are many different ways of approaching a problem.’  


The wider family met at every reasonable occasion, whether in their Home Counties home, grandparents’ houses in London or Holland, or in various holiday venues. Birthdays and Christmases were very family oriented, with lots of people gathered round a table. Christmas presents were opened the continental way on Christmas Eve, following communal singing of carols and listening to a recording of Stille Nacht (Silent Night) sung in German. As the four Clegg children started their own families, the continental format allowed them to visit English in-laws on Christmas Day, though certain English customs like playing charades and hunting for coins in the Christmas pudding were regularly observed.  


Although Hermance was reluctant to say too much about her war-time experiences, there were plenty of tales from the Dutch East Indies. Paul remembers his grandfather Hemmy, ‘an imposing man of about six foot four, with a cluster of grandchildren who would sit on his lap, and he’d tell us stories about tiger-hunting in Indonesia – I have no idea whether they were true or not, they probably weren’t, but we would sit there wide-eyed; it was very exciting.’


It was a very normal middle-class childhood. Children were allowed to behave like children, they got into scrapes and bumps, they fell out with each other, and then made up. There was always a dog around, or several, mostly spaniels. And also a succession of guinea pigs, plus the odd rabbit or two. Hermance says Nick ‘grew up amazingly quickly and was always an oasis of calm in the family’, an attribute that has come in very useful since.


When Clegg went on Desert Island Discs, he chose the Johnny Cash number ‘Sunday Morning Coming Down’ as his second record, because, he said, ‘we used to go on road trips across Europe, often driving through the night, and my parents often used to play Johnny Cash’. On such trips, the entire family was loaded into a Peugeot 504 estate car, with an extra row of seats at the back that meant it could seat everyone plus the dog, and they would drive to wherever they were going. Often it was to the Dutch grandparents and cousins half an hour east of Amsterdam, with all the border crossings that transnational motoring entailed in those days. Other times it was Italy, France or Switzerland. And there were plenty of trips within the British Isles, to destinations in Wales, Yorkshire and Scotland. The luggage would be strapped on to the roof with an old Second World War canvas groundsheet held in place by a couple of bungees; every couple of hours a corner would come loose and cause a serious flapping, prompting a stop for re-strapping.


Sports were very important to the four children, in particular skiing, tennis, squash and rugby. As well as doing well at tennis and hockey, Nick was a particularly good rugby player (see page 39), but the family sport was tennis, something that had come largely through Nick Sr. The problem was that no-one appears to have told the Cleggs that the knock-up doesn’t actually count for anything. ‘We were very good in the knock-up but crap at the games,’ Clegg says, ‘so we’d whack the ball in the knock-up and think we were terribly good, but then hit the ball in the net in the first competitive point. My sister used to get really annoyed and veto actually playing games. There were plenty of teenage tantrums, and I guess my younger brother was the best of us. We were very enthusiastically amateur, but we were all in our school top teams so I suppose we weren’t too bad.’


Music was also ever-present in the Clegg household, largely classical. Nick proved the least musical of the four; he played the piano from eight to thirteen, and reached grade four, but never seriously got into it. His mother says he was the most insufferable child to practise with, because if he set out to play a whole piece but then made a mistake, he’d insist on going back to the beginning, so he’d get up to the same mistake, make it again, and head back to the beginning. ‘I really regret that I didn’t stick with it,’ he says, ‘but then I dabbled with playing the drums, and dabbled with playing the guitar.’ He has since made up for his own lack of musical talent by marrying a very gifted pianist in Miriam González Durántez.


As the four children began to have their own families, the Clegg clan spread out but remained very tight. These days Clegg has three boys of his own, plus four nephews and two nieces. They still have their kitchen table discussions, these days fuelled by a little more alcohol than in his formative years. Paul recalls one holiday discussion when he was twenty-three and Nick seventeen, when his brother’s debating skills really struck him. ‘We were staying in a farm building near Lucca in Italy,’ he says, ‘in a place that barely had hot and cold running water. We had some great fun with very lively debates over Chianti and whatever else. Again, it wasn’t necessarily political – we were sparring with our ideas – but it struck me how very eloquent Nick is, lucid in the way he describes complex issues. He was never somebody who went to conferences at sixteen – that wasn’t him, politics emerged post-university rather than in his formative and teenage years – but he had the ability at that time to sum up complicated ideas very simply and efficiently.’




 





At seven, Clegg was packed off to a local prep school, Caldicott, about ten minutes’ drive away, largely as a day boy but with occasional boarding. He describes it as ‘stiflingly conventional’, which it no doubt was, though he admits that this description stems from his adult days looking back, rather than what he felt at the time. ‘Like any child I just got on with things as I found them,’ he says, ‘so it’s how I remember it.’


There’s a theme running through Clegg’s life of a mild insecurity about the privileged upbringing he had, almost as if he isn’t comfortable, as a liberal, having had such good fortune through his birth. To that extent, calling Caldicott ‘stiflingly conventional’ could be seen as belonging to the handful of reactions he’s shown to his affluence that betray this slight nervousness. Yet that is too simple in this instance. In fact his experience at Caldicott says as much about how his mother encouraged an affable disobedience as about the conventionality or otherwise of the school. ‘Both my parents were small-L liberal,’ he says, ‘and my mum in particular was slightly horrified by the very phenomenon of British country prep schools, so I think even then I was aware that it was quite strict. My mum would mischievously urge us not exactly to disregard the rules, but not to take them too seriously. We were constantly challenging authority: there were teachers that I and my mother would completely send round the bend, if not through insolence at least by constantly asking “Why?”.’


One victim of the Clegg personality was Malcolm Boyden, who at one stage got so exasperated by it that he took the empty plastic cup he happened to have in his hand and threw it down in frustration. The reason this event stands out in Clegg’s memory is that the cup bounced in a great arc and hit another boy on the head, which drove the hapless teacher even further round the bend. He also got terribly frustrated with Alexander Clegg a couple of years later – the most junior Clegg was a very good swimmer but could never be bothered to participate in the swimming races with enough gusto for poor Mr Boyden, who once bellowed at him in a swimming gala, ‘You’re swimming as if you’re swimming in the Mediterranean.’


And yet there was always an awareness of how far not to go. People who knew the Cleggs at that time speak of ‘the right kind of cheekiness’, and while it wouldn’t have made the teachers sleep any easier at night, there was a certain morality to the constant questioning. Clegg adds, ‘My mother’s philosophy was that it’s good to question authority if it’s arbitrary and doesn’t explain itself, but if it’s fair, then it’s OK. It wasn’t insolence for the hell of it, it was insolence for a purpose – at least that’s the way I romanticise it.’ His brother Paul says, ‘Nick has always had the energy to challenge authority; he challenged most teachers at his prep school, and he challenged his teachers at Westminster – almost at every turn he has challenged the status quo if he feels it needs to be challenged.’


One teacher who left his impression on the youngster was Peter Smith, who could claim to have begun the politicisation of Nick Clegg, or at least built on the general morality instilled by his mother. ‘I was about ten,’ Clegg recalls, ‘and was very alarmed by the Cold War and the threat of the Soviet invasion, I got quite anxious about that. So I got our history teacher, Mr Smith, to give us a special lesson on what the Soviet threat was. In retrospect, I realise he was a bit potty. He literally told us, a bunch of nine- or ten-year-olds, “You’re all going to be dead by Christmas.” He got this great map and said, “Look, the Soviet Union needs warm-water ports, so it will sweep through central Europe, and that will elicit a nuclear reaction.” There was a boy in our class from Hawaii – I even remember his name, Roberto los Baños – who was driven to tears because he’d been sent to school here from Hawaii, and hearing this he said he would never see his parents again because there was a big naval base in Hawaii. But even without Mr Smith’s experience, I was very much a child of the looming threat of nuclear disaster; at least that weighed very heavily on my mind from a young age.’


However challenging he was of his teachers, he at least had academic rigour to fall back on and create some goodwill when those in authority felt their blood pressure rising. He impressed staff with his essays, showing an ability to put things straight onto paper with very little need for correction. He also impressed with his general conduct, to the point that he was made head prefect. His mother recalls that, in one of his prep school reports, ‘they said he took on too much for his age, but it was his own choice’. Plus he had that quality beloved of all private schools: the ability to contribute to the school’s prestige through sporting prowess. Clegg loved rugby, and played a lot of it at Caldicott, mostly as flanker. The headmaster at Caldicott, Peter Wright, had an abiding, all-consuming obsession with rugby, and consequently the school excelled at it, winning various national competitions. As a member of the school’s top team, Clegg found himself twice on the hallowed turf of Twickenham in the late 1970s, when the school was invited to a fill a pre-kickoff slot demonstrating passing, tackling and other manoeuvres before the Oxford–Cambridge varsity match. ‘For an eleven- or twelve-year-old, to run onto this ground was amazing,’ he recalls. ‘The thing that stands out for me was how long the grass was, it was so much longer than I’d expected. We had these little cones, we’d run around them and pass the ball. There was endless practising to do.’


But at thirteen, disaster struck – he went to a school that didn’t play rugby! ‘That was where my career went all wrong,’ he jokes, but adds seriously, ‘I loved rugby, absolutely loved it, and I missed it immensely when I went to school in London.’

















Chapter 4


‘SOMETHING VISCERAL ABOUT HIM’





THOSE WHO like to lump David Cameron and Nick Clegg together as two of a kind because of their similar upbringings cite their schools and universities as evidence. It couldn’t possibly be denied that two traditional English public schools (now sensibly termed independent schools) followed by Oxbridge higher education represents a truly privileged start in life. But to assume that Eton and Westminster were the same, or that Brasenose College, Oxford and Robinson College, Cambridge were two of a kind, would be to miss some important nuances of both the independent schools sector and Oxbridge.
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